Court of Appeals No. 319504-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOETTA RUPERT,

REALD

Appellant,

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, 114 Wn. App. 611, 60 P.3d 106 (2002) relating to the summary judgment standard in employment cases? RAP 13.4(b)(1)
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with *Piel v. The City of Federal Way,* 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013) relating to the *jeopardy* element in tort of wrongful discharge cases and *Scrivener v. Clark College,* 334 P.3d 541 (2014) relating to the summary judgment standard in employment cases, in particular, the element of *pretext*? RAP 13.4(b)(2)
 - 3. Whether the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)? In this case, whether the remedies provided under the Local Governmental Whistleblower Protection Act, chapter 42.41 RCW are adequate as a matter of law to preclude a separate tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy based upon the *jeopardy* element. Additionally, the petition should be granted to provide clarity and eliminate the confusion evident in other appellate court cases dealing with the *jeopardy* element. See Judge Fearing's concurring opinion in Becker v. Community Health Systems, Inc., 332 P.3d 1085 (2014).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Rupert was hired by the Kennewick Irrigation District (KID) in 2003. Ms. Rupert received a series of promotions throughout her career with KID. The last promotion she received was manager of the Real Estate Department. Ms. Rupert reported directly to the Board of Directors (Board) which at the time was comprised of all males. The Board was Ms. Rupert's supervisors. CP 002, CP 187

Throughout Ms. Rupert's employment with KID, and up to the time of her firing on July 27, 2010, she had complained to the KID Board about the KID reserve fund (with an original value of \$15,000,000) being improperly used and accounted for. CP 112, CP 120, CP 127-128, 207,

CP 250-259, CP 380, CP 318-325, CP 340-341 Ms. Rupert had become concerned about unauthorized expenditures being made by KID. CP 195-196 Ms. Rupert was concerned about the Board not meeting its fiduciary duties because there was no public discussion by the Board as to how the reserve fund should be spent, how much of the reserve fund was being spent or where it was being spent. CP 189 Ms. Rupert was also concerned about inconsistent information on investment reports prepared by the KID treasurer and, as a result, she brought those concerns to the Board. CP 252-258, CP 320-325

Ms. Rupert had shown Board member, John Jaksch, in the earlier part of 2010 evidence of mature investments (certificates of deposit) being cashed out instead of being reinvested and transferred to the operations account without Board authority and then used to purchase unauthorized vehicles and compensate KID employees for overtime. As a result, some employees in 2009 received more in overtime compensation than their annual salary. When Ms. Rupert showed Mr. Jaksch the documentation he commented, "somebody could go to jail for this." CP 086-088, CP 192, CP 271-273

KID Board member, Gene McGuire, had criticized Ms. Rupert for bringing these concerns to the Board about the use and accounting for of

the KID reserve fund and had directed his criticisms in front of the full Board. CP 258

Mr. McGuire had also been critical of Ms. Rupert raising concerns about the Board approving the sale and lease of public properties under its control. Ms. Rupert had previously retained a legal firm in Portland, Oregon for advice on the sale and lease of public properties and had been advised that a statute did not allow for more than a year to year lease. CP 246-247, CP 318-319

Mr. McGuire was extremely upset that Ms. Rupert had retained a legal firm for advice and, as a result, properties under her supervision and control were taken away from her and given to another male manager. CP 196

The Board hired an outside auditor, on Ms. Rupert's recommendation in 2010, to perform an audit for calendar years 2006-2009. CP 089, CP 189, CP 196, CP 201, CP 252-259, CP 267, CP 274 Ms. Rupert shared her complaints with the auditor. CP 267-270

The results of the audit were shared with the Board in May of 2010. The results of the audit disclosed the Board was not being provided with "routine financial reports." CP 051 Furthermore, the audit noted that KID investments during the calendar years subject to the audit continued

to decrease as certificate of deposits were redeemed monthly by the accounting division to cover operating expenses. The auditor also disclosed that she was unable to identify documentation supporting the appropriate authorization of the transfer of investment funds to the operating cash account. The auditor also noted the Board was not receiving and reviewing monthly investment reports. CP 052, CP 059

On June 17, 2010, Ms. Rupert informed the Board President at the time, Gene Huffman, she needed to speak to the KID General Manager, Charles Freeman, about another male manager, Scott Revell working outside the scope of his responsibilities and interfering with her job. Ms. Rupert went to Mr. Huffman because Mr. Freeman refused to speak to her in person because she was a woman. CP 235-239 Mr. Freeman had spoken with other male managers, as well as the all male KID Board. CP 200, 223, 227, 235-239 Mr. Huffman, in response, ordered Ms. Rupert not to contact Mr. Freeman because he had been "burned before" and that he was not comfortable working with women or being alone with another woman in the workplace. CP 235-239, 278 Mr. Huffman ordered Ms. Rupert not to have any contact with Mr. Freeman. CP 238 Ms. Rupert opposed Mr. Huffman's response by protesting, in part, that this was discriminatory treatment. CP 200, 227, 235-239

Ms. Rupert had also complained to Board Member, John Pringle, that she was not being treated in the same manner as male managers, Mr. Freeman and Mr. Revell. CP 189 She further protested that this discriminatory treatment was on the basis of her gender. CP 189 In response, Ms. Rupert was told by Mr. Pringle not to question the authority of the Board. CP 189

On or around July 15, 2010, Ms. Rupert told Mr. Jaksch that she felt she was being discriminated against on the basis of her gender and that she intended upon filing a formal complaint against Mr. McGuire for hostile work environment. CP 195, CP 242-244, CP 246-247, CP 258, CP 382-383

On July 15, 2010, Ms. Rupert met with Mr. Huffman in her office for over two and half hours relating to her complaints of discrimination and hostile work environment she had raised with Mr. Jaksch. At this same meeting, Mr. Huffman broached the topic of how Ms. Rupert was going to claim her time off from work for a personal injury trial she had to attend as a plaintiff relating to an automobile accident while she was in the scope of her employment with KID. CP 193 Ms. Rupert told Mr. Huffman she was going to use her accrued sick leave benefits and inquired as to whether this was a problem. Mr. Huffman responded by stating to

Ms. Rupert, "No, there isn't." CP 194, CP 286 Ms. Rupert reiterated that if there was a problem she could use her accrued vacation benefits. Mr. Huffman responded by again telling Ms. Rupert, "No don't change it." CP 188, CP 200, CP 286

Ms. Rupert was advised by Charles Freeman, on the same day, via e-mail communication that her request to use her sick leave was denied. CP 285-286

On July 20, 2010, Ms. Rupert was notified by the Board's attorney, Brian Iller, that she was being placed on administrative leave "pending an investigation of the charge that you attempted to use sick leave for time off to attend a personal injury trial for approximately one week." CP 313 The Board's decision to place Ms. Rupert on administrative leave was made by a motion initiated by Mr. Jaksch and seconded by Mr. McGuire. CP 359

On July 27, 2010, Ms. Rupert was terminated from employment by the Board without cause. CP 335-336 No specific reason was given by the Board for its decision to terminate her employment without cause. CP 336-337

In declarations provided in support of KID's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Pringle, Mr. Huffman and Mr. Jaksch asserted, for the first

time, that Ms. Rupert's employment with KID was terminated for cause based upon "poor performance." CP 093, CP 110-113, CP 117-120, CP 124-128

.

There is no evidence of any documented performance concerns prior to Ms. Rupert's without cause termination on July 27, 2010. CP 186, CP 191-199, CP 206

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. Ms. Rupert's Petition for Review should be granted on her retaliatory discharge claims because the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals and Washington Supreme Court as to the standard for summary judgment in employment cases.

a. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c) When making this determination, the court must consider all facts and make all reasonable, factual inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Young v. Key Pharms., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

On summary judgment, "the trial court has no authority to weigh evidence or testimonial credibility" and nor can the appellate court do so on appeal. *Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic*, 114 Wn. App. 611, 623, 60 P.3d

106 (2002) The issue is "whether a burden of production has been met, not whether the evidence produced is persuasive. That is the jury's role, once a burden of production has been met." *Id.* at 623

In cases involving retaliation for complaining about discriminatory conduct or behavior on the part of the employer, the plaintiff when faced with a summary judgment motion needs to "produce very little evidence in order to overcome the employer's motion for summary judgment." *Chuang v. University of California Davis*, 225 F.3d 1115, 1124 (9th Cir. 2000); *Sangster v. Albertson's Inc.*, 99 Wn. App. 156, 160, 991 P.2d 674 (2000) ("Summary judgment should rarely be granted in employment discrimination cases.")

As a result, summary judgment in favor of the employer "is often inappropriate because the evidence will generally contain reasonable but competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by a jury." *Kuyper v. Dep't of Wildlife*, 79 Wn. App. 732, 739, 904 P.2d 793 (1995) (citing and quoting *Carle v. McChord Credit Union*, 65 Wn. App. 93, 102, 827 P.2d 1070 (1992).

The Court of Appeals decision ignored this standard. *Scrivener v. Clark College*, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)

b. Elements of Retaliatory Discharge

WLAD forbids an employer, in part, from discharging an employee in retaliation for "opposing any practices forbidden by this chapter." RCW 49.60.210

To establish a prima facie case of retaliation, Ms. Rupert must show that (1) she engaged in statutorily protected activity, (2) her employer took an adverse employment action against her, and (3) there is a causal link between the activity and the adverse action. *Milligan v. Thompson*, 110 Wn. App. 611, 638, 43 P.3d 522 (2002) A tort of wrongful discharge claim required Ms. Rupert to establish the following: (1) the existence of a "clear public policy" ("clarity" element), (2) whether "discouraging the conduct in which [the employee] engaged would jeopardize the public policy" ("jeopardy" element), (3) whether the "public-policy-linked conduct caused the discharge" ("causation" element), and (4) whether the employer is "able to offer an overriding justification for the [discharge]" ("absence of justification" element). *Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc.*, 128 Wn.2d 931, 941, 913 P.2d 377 (1996). Here, only the jeopardy and causation elements are at issue.

(1) Statutorily Protected Activity

The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of Ms. Rupert's retaliatory discharge claim. The Court of Appeals held that by not

complaining to a supervisor or human resources of activity that was forbidden by WLAD she had failed to show she was engaged in protected activity. See Appendix A, pg. 7-8.

To prove statutorily protected activity Ms. Rupert is not required to prove that KID's challenged conduct was unlawful. *Renz*, 114 Wn. App. at 619 Ms. Rupert was protected under WLAD if she opposed practices "reasonably believed to be discriminatory" regardless of whether the conduct was actually discriminatory. *Id.* at 619 Thus, a failure to prove either gender discrimination or hostile work environment is not dispositive of Ms. Rupert's retaliatory discharge claim. *Id.; see also Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 460, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000) (requiring only an "objectively reasonable belief").

Washington courts have also concluded that employee complaints to a supervisor may constitute a statutorily protected activity. *Estevez v. Faculty Club of the Univ. of Wash.*, 129 Wn. App. 774, 798-99, 120 P.3d 579 (2005)

In this case, Ms. Rupert met her burden of production when she opposed the discriminatory behavior of Mr. Freeman, Mr. McGuire, Mr. Huffman and other male board members and employees by complaining to

at least three separate KID Board members who were her supervisors. CP 002, CP 079, CP 207, CP 250-253, CP 380

(2) Causation

The Court of Appeals also affirmed dismissal of Ms. Rupert's retaliatory discharge claim under WLAD and separate tort claim for wrongful discharge holding that she failed to establish a causal link between her complaints and firing. See Appendix A, pg. 8.

Ms. Rupert's petition for review should also be granted because she met her burden of production on these elements, and the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with prior court decisions.

In regard to the burden of production, Washington courts have concluded that a retaliatory motive need not be the employer's sole or principal reason for the discharge so long as the employee establishes that retaliation was a substantial factor. *Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 46, 68-69, 821 P.2d 18 (1991) An employee can meet the burden of production on the causation element by establishing that she participated in opposition activity, the employer knew of the opposition activity, and the employer discharged her. *Renz*, at 621

Proximity in time between the protected activity and the adverse employment action is a factor that suggests retaliation. *Burchfiel v. Boeing Corp.*, 149 Wn. App. 468, 482, 205 P.3d 145 (2009)

The Court of Appeals ignored the proximity in time between Ms. Rupert's complaints to her supervisors of gender discrimination, hostile work environment, the accounting and use of the KID reserve fund and her unlawful firing on July 27, 2010. Ms. Rupert had complained of gender discrimination to Mr. Huffman relating to Mr. Freeman on June 17, 2010. Ms. Rupert had complained to both Mr. Jaksch and Mr. Huffman on or around July 15, 2010, of her continued complaints of gender discrimination and her intent to file a formal complaint of hostile work environment against Mr. McGuire five days prior to her being placed on administrative leave by the Board and twelve days prior to her termination on July 27, 2010. Ms. Rupert had steadily complained about the accounting and use of the KID reserve fund beginning in 2006 up to 2010 culminating in an audit which corroborated her concerns in May of 2010, two months prior to her termination on July 27, 2010. CP 189, CP 191, CP 195, CP 223, 235-239, CP 242-244, CP 246-247, CP 258, CP 379, CP 382-383

The Court of Appeals noted in affirming summary judgment dismissal that Ms. Rupert had performance issues and "she took sick leave contrary to KID's sick leave policy." Appendix A, pg. 8. KID claimed, after her firing, that "performance problems" were the reasons for Ms. Rupert's firing. However, the Board never documented any of her alleged "performance problems" before the decision to fire her was made. The first time performance problems were raised was at summary judgment. CP 110-113, CP 117-120, CP 124-128, CP 186-187, CP 191-193, CP 206. This rationale for affirming summary judgment dismissal is clearly in conflict with prior Court of Appeal decisions. *See Renz*, at 625 (summary judgment reversed where employer failed to document any of the employee's shortcomings until it decided to fire her.)

The Court of Appeals decision is also in conflict with a recent decision of the Washington Supreme Court, *Scrivener v. Clark College*, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) and its precedent as it relates to evidence of *pretext*. Ms. Rupert may satisfy the *pretext* element by offering sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact by establishing that (1) KID's reason for her firing is pretexual or (2) that although its stated reason at time of firing, e.g., violation of sick leave policy is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the KID

Board. Fell v. Spokane Transit Authority, 128 Wn.2d 618, 643 n. 32, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996); Wilmot v. Kaiser Alum. & Chem. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 73 (1991)

Ms. Rupert satisfied her burden of production relating to pretext. Ms. Rupert had engaged in protected oppositional activity in close proximity to her firing relating to gender discrimination, hostile work environment, and her raising concerns about the accounting and use of the KID reserve fund. She had also been told by her supervisor, Mr. Huffman, that her applying to use sick leave benefits was appropriate and should not be substituted for accrued vacation benefits. Additionally, Mr. Jaksch (who Ms. Rupert earlier had notified of her complaints) made the motion to place her on administrative leave and which was seconded by Mr. McGuire (who had demonstrated animus towards Ms. Rupert). See Staub v. Proctor Hospital, 131 S.Ct. 1186 (2011) (Employer may be liable for the demonstrated animus of a supervisor towards an employee's membership in a protected class or protected activity if the animus is a proximate cause of the employer's adverse action.) Finally, there were no documented performance problems at the time of her firing on July 27, 2010. Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank, 69 Wn. App. 852, 860, 851 P.2d 716 (1993) (Setting forth the principle that multiple, incompatible reasons

may support an inference that none of the reasons given are the real reasons); *Renz*, at 625

2. Ms. Rupert's Petition for Review should be granted on her tort of wrongful discharge claim because the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the opinion of the Washington Supreme Court in *Piel v. The City of Federal Way*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Rupert's tort of wrongful discharge claim on the basis she had failed to satisfy the *jeopardy* element. The Court of Appeals held that the remedies set forth within chapter 42.41 RCW the Local Governmental Whistleblower Protection Act (LGWPA) were adequate as a matter of law and, therefore, she failed to meet the *jeopardy* element. See Appendix A, pg. 11-13. The Court of Appeals decision is clearly in conflict with *Piel v*. The City of Federal Way, 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013)

The *Piel* Court held that the remedies available to a public employee under chapter 41.56 RCW are not adequate as a matter of law and therefore an employee may assert a tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. *Id.* at 609

The *Piel* Court in reviewing its prior cases on this issue concluded that "[t]he adequacy of available remedies is the heart of jeopardy analysis in cases involving statutes that provide administrative schemes." *Id.* at

613 The *Piel* Court determined that statutory remedies were "inadequate where no recovery for emotional distress is available." *Id.* at 614 (citing and quoting *Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Services, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 200, 232-233, 193 P.3d 128 (2008).

In this case, Ms. Rupert satisfied the *jeopardy* element of her tort of wrongful discharge claim because chapter 42.41 RCW does not provide adequate remedies (in this case no recovery for emotional distress or other tort damages). RCW 42.41(7); *Smith v. Bates Technical College*, 139 Wn.2d 793, 806, 991 P.2d 1135 (2000); *Piel*, at 614.

3. The Washington Supreme Court should grant review because this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest: whether the procedures and remedies available to a public employee under chapter 42.41 RCW are adequate as a matter of law, such that the employee may not assert a tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy; and to eliminate the confusion and provide clarity to practitioners and lower court judges relating to the *jeopardy* element.

The Washington Supreme Court should grant the petition and declare for the first time that Ms. Rupert, along with other local public employees, should not be barred from bringing a tort claim "simply because her administrative . . . remedies may partially compensate her wrongful discharge." *Smith*, at 806; *Piel*, at 611. The Washington Supreme Court should further declare the procedures and other remedies available to a local public employee under chapter 42.41 RCW are

inadequate as a matter of law and therefore an employee is not precluded from bringing a tort of wrongful discharge claim. RCW 42.41.040(7)

The statutory scheme, which affords relief for a local governmental employee who is retaliated against for reporting improper governmental action, is inadequate for several reasons. First, the statute does not provide for the recovery of emotional distress or other tort damages. Instead, the relief is limited to the administrative law judge (ALJ) having the discretion to provide for "reinstatement, with or without back pay, and such injunctive relief as" the ALJ determines is appropriate. No potential award for front pay is available. RCW 42.41.040(7)

Second, the award of reasonable attorney fees and costs is discretionary and may be made to the prevailing party. RCW 42.41.040(7) (8) The potential award of reasonable attorney fees and costs to the employer if it prevails may have a chilling effect on employees filing charges of retaliation. Employees alleging improper governmental action and their attorneys may be dissuaded from filing a charge and proceeding to a hearing before an ALJ based upon the inherent risks posed if the employer prevails. RCW 42.41.040(7) This fee shifting mechanism available to the employer if it prevails is not available under WLAD. *Compare* RCW 42.41.040(7) with RCW 49.60.030(g)(2) There is also no

right to a jury trial. See Judge Fearing's concurrence in Becker v. Community Health Systems, Inc., 332 P.3d 1085 (2014)

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