RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Dec 08, 2014, 3:17 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E DRF  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 91029-4

---

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

**JOETTA RUPERT,**

Appellant,

vs.

**KENNEWICK IRRIGATION DISTRICT**

Respondent,

---

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

JERRY J. MOBERG, WSBA No. 5282  
JERRY MOBERG & ASSOCIATES, P.S.  
Attorneys for Respondent  
P.O. Box 130  
124 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave S.W.  
Ephrata, WA 98823  
(509) 754 2356

 ORIGINAL

##

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

### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### 1. THE COURT OF APPEALS RULING ON THE RETALIATION CLAIM IS CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING CASE LAW.

The Court of Appeals opinion on the WLAD retaliation claim is entirely consistent with previous case law in Washington. Ms. Rupert spends much of her time simply arguing that the Court of Appeals misapplied these established principle of law in her case. The Court did not. Furthermore, that is not a valid reason for this Court to review the opinion.

The Court of Appeals properly identified and applied the elements of a *prima facie* claim to this appeal. The Court properly noted that “Absent some reference to the plaintiff’s protected status, a general complaint about an employer’s unfair conduct does not rise to the level of protected activity under WLAD.” (Opinion at 6) The Court of Appeals concluded from the review of the record that all of Ms. Rupert’s complaints were involving workplace issues, not harassment or discrimination. Ms. Rupert simply failed to come forward with sufficient evidence to create a material question of fact on this point. A review of the record in this case demonstrates the Court of Appeal’s wisdom in this

regard. Ms. Rupert complained about a number of workplace encounters but never once claimed that she was opposing a forbidden practice or that the interactions were discriminatory to her based on her gender. The Court of Appeals applied the proper law to this case and its ruling is correct. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals determined that Ms. Rupert did not create a triable issue on causation. Ms. Rupert failed to demonstrate sufficient facts to establish that her alleged “oppositional conduct”<sup>3</sup> was a substantial motivating factor in the District’s decision to terminate her at-will status. In her Petition Ms. Rupert spends most of her effort on arguing with the Court of Appeals ruling on the merits of her case. The ruling is correct and entirely consistent with the well-established principles under WLAD. Furthermore, disagreement with the Court’s substantive ruling is not a recognized basis for granting review.

Mr. Rupert does eventually argue that the decision is in conflict with *Scrivener v. Clark College*, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) regarding the issue of pretext. The pretext argument is simply a “straw man” argument made in an effort to create a basis for review by this court. The Court of Appeals did not base its ruling on a “pretext” analysis and never discussed the pretext issue. Therefore, Ms. Rupert’s pretext argument is irrelevant. The Court of Appeals decided this case on the basis that Ms. Rupert did

---

<sup>3</sup> Actually the Court of Appeals did not find any evidence in the record of oppositional

not create a question of fact on her claim of oppositional activity or causation. As the Court of Appeals noted at page 4 of its opinion:

Ms. Rupert's complaints were not specific or formally made. Moreover, she initially did not claim the actions were discriminatory. Instead, she complained solely about workplace issues, not harassment or discrimination. She expressed professional concern to Mr. Huffman about being unable to meet with Mr. Freeman because it interfered with her work, even though Mr. Huffman told her Mr. Freeman “had been burned before” by female employees and was not comfortable being alone with them. CP at 238. Ms. Rupert deposed she did not recall the entirety of the conversation but recalled her displeasure that business was being hampered because of two managers not being able to communicate. Ms. Rupert admitted she did not report this conversation to anyone in management. Ms. Rupert claims Mr. Huffman tried to give her a hug as she left a meeting and she thought that was sexual harassment. But, again, this was unreported.

Ms. Rupert fails to show she engaged in statutorily protected activity or persuade us genuine material fact issues remain. She did not complain to any supervisor or to the human resource department of activity that was forbidden by WLAD. Her complaints were centered on financial issues related to the reserve fund and unprofessional treatment, not gender based discrimination issues. Ms. Rupert did not make complaints under *Alonso* or *Estevez* fairly considered as opposition to employment practices forbidden by anti-discrimination law or other practices she reasonably believed to be discriminatory. *Short*, 169 Wn.App. at 205. (Emphasis added)

It is clear that after Ms. Rupert was terminated she started looking for a way to challenge her “at-will” termination. It was not until she filed

---

conduct so the causation ruling logically follows.

this suit that she made any claim that she was discriminated because of her gender and that her termination was in retaliation for her oppositional activity. Her belated claims of discrimination were legally insufficient to overcome her lawful “at-will” termination. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the Board “had become dissatisfied for some time with Ms. Rupert’s performance, [the fact that] her department was over budget, and she took sick leave contrary to [District’s] sick leave policy.” Id. Ms. Rupert did not create a material factual dispute to show either that she had engaged in oppositional activity or that the District’s adverse employment action was substantially motivated by her alleged and non-existent oppositional activity.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH  
*PIEL V. CITY OF FEDERAL WAY.*

Ms. Rupert argues, *Pet. at 16-17*, that the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with this Court’s decision in *Piel v. City of Federal Way*, 177 Wash.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013). It does not. *Piel* involved the very narrow question of whether Piel had met the requirements of the “jeopardy prong” of the limited common law tort of termination in violation of public policy where he alleged “a tort claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy is viable based on provisions of chapter 41.56 RCW involving the Public Employees Relations

Commission (PERC).” Id. at 607. The trial court held that the remedies permitted under RCW 41.56 provided sufficient protections for the public policy implicated in Piel’s claim and therefore dismissed Piel’s public policy tort claim. The trial court’s ruling was directly contrary to the holding in *Smith v. Bates Technical College*, 139 Wash.2d 793, 991 P.2d 1135 (2000) where the Supreme Court recognized that an employee protected by a collective bargaining agreement may bring a common law claim for wrongful termination based on the public policy provisions of RCW 41.56 notwithstanding the administrative remedies available under that statute. In reversing the trial judge’s obvious error in ignoring the holding in *Smith*, the Court took the opportunity to better explain its jeopardy analysis and harmonize the recent decisions in *Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc.*, 172 Wash.2d 524, 259 P.3d 244 (2011), and *Korlund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities Services., Inc.*, 156 Wash.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005), with *Smith*. *Piel* at 607 Neither *Piel* nor *Smith* address the specific protections provided in the LGWPA, chpt. 42.41 RCW which are implicated in this case.

The employer in *Piel* argued that the Court in *Smith* did not address the “jeopardy prong” argument. *Piel* made it clear that *Smith* did resolve the jeopardy argument and that RCW 51.46 did not provide sufficient protections to advance the public policy of that statute. More

importantly, *Piel* made it clear that the Court was not retreating from its holdings in *Cudney* and *Korslund*, two cases that found their respective statutes did provide sufficient protections to promote public policy thereby defeating the “jeopardy” element. The Court of Appeals in this case carefully considered the holdings of *Piel*, *Cudney* and *Korslund*. *Rupert* at 5-7. It then held:

Here, the LGWPA provides remedies of reinstatement, back pay, injunctive relief, costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, and civil penalties and does not contain a provision providing “provisions of this chapter are intended to be additional to other remedies and shall be liberally construed” as was the case in *Piel*. 177 Wn.2d at 617 (quoting RCW 41.56.905). Ms. Rupert argues the LGWPA protections are inadequate because she cannot get compensatory damages. But, “[t]he other means of promoting the public policy need not be available to a particular individual so long as the other means are adequate to safeguard the public policy.” *Hubbard v. Spokane County*, 146 Wn.2d 699, 717, 50 P.3d 602 (2002). Moreover, “the tort of wrongful discharge is not designed to protect an employee's purely private interest ... rather, the tort operates to vindicate the public interest in prohibiting employers from acting in a manner contrary to fundamental public policy.” *Smith v. Bates Technical Coll.*, 139 Wn.2d 793, 801, 991 P.2d 1135 (2000). The question here, as it was in *Korslund*, is “whether other means of protecting the public policy are adequate so that recognition of a tort claim in these circumstances is unnecessary to protect the public policy.” *Korslund*, 156 Wn.2d at 183. In this case, we conclude they are.



Contrary to Ms. Rupert's claim that the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with *Piel* the ruling is, in fact, entirely consistent with *Piel*.<sup>4</sup>

3. THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Ms. Rupert argues that this Court should grant the Petition and declare that the LGWPA (RCW 42.41. et. seq) remedies are inadequate as a matter of law to promote the public policy espoused in the act. She claims that this is a matter of substantial public interest. She is mistaken.

Firstly, it is not the LGWPA that is in controversy in this case but, instead, it is the District's local Whistleblower policy. (CP 67-74) While the local policy provides substantially all of the protections found in the LGWPA, the local policy does not command the broad public attention suggested by Ms. Rupert. The provisions of the local policy do not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Secondly, even if the local policy involved issues of substantial public interest, the policy is legally sufficient. It provides significant

---

<sup>4</sup> Ms. Rupert suggests that the "*Piel* Court determined that statutory remedies were 'inadequate where no recovery for emotional distress is available.' Id. at 614 (citing and quoting *Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Services, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 200, 232-233, 193 P.3d 128 (2008). *Piel* does not make such a direct holding. The citation in *Danny* is to the dissenting/concurring opinion. The majority in *Danny* only addressed the "clarity" element not "jeopardy" element. Emotional distress is a private remedy. Thus, in Washington the tort of wrongful discharge is not designed to protect an employee's purely private interest in his or her continued employment; rather, the tort operates to vindicate the public interest in prohibiting employers from acting in a manner contrary to fundamental public policy. *Smith v. Bates Technical College*, 139 Wash.2d 793, 801, 991 P.2d 1135, 1140 (2000).

protections that clearly promote the public policy, including the right to keep the reporting employee's identification confidential., the right to a prompt investigation and the right to a hearing before an administrative law judge. (Id.)

Thirdly, even if the LGWPA is implicated, its remedies are sufficient to promote the public policy of the statute. They include the right to reinstatement, with or without back pay, and such injunctive relief as may be found to be necessary in order to return the employee to the position he or she held before the retaliatory action and to prevent any recurrence of retaliatory action. The administrative law judge may also award costs and reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party. If a determination is made that retaliatory action has been taken against the employee, the administrative law judge may, in addition to any other remedy, impose a civil penalty personally upon the retaliator of up to three thousand dollars payable by each person found to have retaliated against the employee and recommend to the local government that any person found to have retaliated against the employee be suspended with or without pay or dismissed. RCW 42.41.040

Ms. Rupert argues that these protections are inadequate to promote the public policy. She claims that the statute is lacking because it does not provide her with a private right to seek emotional distress damages. This

private remedy does not make the statutory protections inadequate. See argument, supra. She also claims the statute is deficient because it does not provide for an award of “front pay.” However, since she is entitled to a complete and unconditional reinstatement, front pay would never be an implicated remedy under this statutory scheme.

She complains that the attorney fee provision in the statute is inadequate because the award can only be made to a prevailing party. It only seems reasonable that the fee award should go to the prevailing party.<sup>5</sup>

She next argues that because she must file the retaliation claim within 30 days, the statute does not promote the public policy. This Court in *Cudney* specifically rejected this argument and upheld RCW 49.17.160 as sufficient even though it contained the same 30 day notice requirement.<sup>6</sup> *Cudney* at 533 Ms. Rupert argues that the statute fails to promote public policy because she is required to exhaust the administrative remedies of the statute before being entitled to pursue a public policy tort claim. Again, she is mistaken. If the LGWPA did not adequately promote the public policy she could proceed with her public policy tort claim without exhausting the administrative remedies of the

---

<sup>5</sup> Interestingly, the public policy tort claim would not, by itself, provide the successful employee the remedy of an award of attorney fees.

LGWPA. *Smith v. Bates Technical College*, 139 Wash.2d 793, 810-811, 991 P.2d 1135, 1144 (2000)(Concluding that the employee is not required to exhaust her administrative remedies) However, since the LGWPA provides adequate protections Ms. Rupert must proceed with her administrative remedies in order to receive the full protection of the act.

Finally, Ms. Ruppert suggests that this Court grant review to provide clarity regarding the jeopardy element. However, her bold presumption that the law is not clear is misguided. This court in *Cudney*, *Korsland* and now *Piel* has provided all the clarity needed for the court or the practitioner to determine if a particular statute has sufficient remedies to promote the public policy. No further clarity is required. This is not an area of law that this Court can provide a bright-line rule. If that was feasible this Court would have done so long ago.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Ms. Rupert made a few workplace complaints while she was employed by the District. The complaints mostly involved her inability to get along with the Board members and her disagreements with how the Board members decided to spend District funds. At no time during her employment did she actually complain that she was being discriminated